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PROCEEDINGS 1 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Patrick? 2 

 MR. PATRICK:  Judge, we are here on the case of State 3 

versus Tarrell L. Richardson charged with burglary first degree 4 

and arson second degree on indictment numbers -- Court's 5 

indulgence 2023GS1005413 and 2023GS1005414.  Our understanding 6 

is that the Defendant wishes to plead guilty straight up as 7 

charged. 8 

 THE COURT:  Mr. Voight? 9 

 MR. VOIGHT:  Yes, Your Honor.  That -- we haa 10 

provided the Court with sentencing sheets; I've gone over this 11 

with my client.  We have discussed various options and at this 12 

point we would tender pleas of guilty to both indictments. 13 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Well, Mr. Richardson, you 14 

heard the solicitor, you heard your lawyer, you want to plead 15 

guilty to the indictment 2023GS105414 arson second degree as 16 

well as the indictment for burglary first degree 2023GS105413.? 17 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 18 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Well on both of these, you 19 

have the right to a jury trial.  We were getting ready to start 20 

your jury trial later this morning when your lawyer tells me 21 

that you were deciding that you wanted to plead guilty to these 22 

charges.  So, I'm not trying to talk you out of it.  I am 23 

simply making sure that you understand what rights you have and 24 

that you are giving these rights up freely, voluntarily, and 25 
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intelligently.  So, as to these, the biggest right that you 1 

give up is the right to a jury trial and if you wanted a trial, 2 

the State would have to present one for you. 3 

 They would have to convince 12 jurors that you are 4 

guilty of these charges beyond a reasonable doubt.  All 12 have 5 

to agree that you are guilty in order to convict you.  And if 6 

convicted, you would have the right to appeal.  You could 7 

challenge the State's evidence, put up evidence of your own.  8 

Testify if you wanted and if you did not want to testify, the 9 

judge would instruct the jury there not to hold that against 10 

you while they're deliberating the verdict.  Do you understand 11 

those rights? 12 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 13 

 THE COURT:  And you want to give those rights up and 14 

plead guilty today? 15 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 16 

 THE COURT:  Are you pleading guilty to these charges 17 

because you're guilty of them? 18 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 19 

 THE COURT:  Are you under the influence of drugs or 20 

alcohol today? 21 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  No, sir. 22 

 THE COURT:  Do you need any more time with your 23 

lawyer? 24 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  I'm good. 25 
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 THE COURT:  Are you satisfied with the job that he 1 

did for you? 2 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 3 

 THE COURT:  And you understand that you would give up 4 

the right to have the hearing that we were going to have this 5 

morning on the identification, we call that a vigorous hearing.  6 

We had that scheduled.  You understand you're giving that right 7 

up? 8 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 9 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Now, there has been no 10 

promises or threats to -- made to you in order to get you to 11 

plead guilty.  Is that correct? 12 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 13 

 THE COURT:  How old are you? 14 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  40 [phonetic]. 15 

 THE COURT:  How far did you get in school? 16 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  GED and I have an associate in 17 

business school. 18 

 THE COURT:  And did you have a job before you got 19 

locked up? 20 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 21 

 THE COURT:  What was that? 22 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  I oversee a manufacturing plant. 23 

 THE COURT:  Are you married? 24 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  No, sir. 25 
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 THE COURT:  You got any children? 1 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Step kids. Not the biological 2 

children. 3 

 THE COURT:  Mr. Voight, does this gentleman 4 

understand what he is doing here today, in your opinion? 5 

 MR. VOIGHT:  Yes, Judge.  He does. 6 

 THE COURT:  All right.  I find that there is -- that 7 

his plea is freely, voluntarily, and intelligently made.  What 8 

would the State like to tell me about the case? 9 

 MR. PATRICK:  Thank you, Your Honor.  May it please 10 

the Court.  As you're aware we were about to try this case 11 

before we got the indication that the Defendant wishes to plead 12 

guilty.  But as to the facts of this case, we would present 13 

that on December 28th, 2021, between 5:00 and 5:30 p.m. at  14 

 North Charleston Police Department and 15 

Fire Department were dispatched for a structure fire in 16 

reference to a residential building. 17 

 First around -- arriving units found a two-story 18 

duplex with an extensive fire damage along with a neighboring 19 

unit that was attached to that same building, which they had to 20 

breach the door to make sure that the fire hadn't spread to 21 

that area.  Subsequent investigation determined that the fire 22 

was set intentionally.  That was done by Chief and Fire 23 

investigator David Biser, who would've testified to that. 24 

 All -- in addition, there was a surveillance video 25 
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that was pulled from the area, a ring doorbell camera that was 1 

from the neighbor's house that shows this Defendant leaving the 2 

building around the exact same time that the fire was started.  3 

On that video, you hear the smoke detector going off.  In 4 

addition, there were text messages or Facebook messages sent to 5 

the victim in this case indicating that he had the intent to -- 6 

said that he was going to come burn her house down or I will 7 

light that shit up. 8 

 In addition, there was a witness a neighbor that 9 

identified this Defendant who got a clear view of him and 10 

identified him in a six-pack lineup with a hundred percent 11 

certainty.  Finally, as we've developed this case, we've 12 

learned of GPS records from ankle monitor places the Defendant 13 

at the scene at the time of this incident. 14 

 All of this led to the conclusion by the 15 

investigator, Dave Biser, that this Defendant was the one that 16 

entered the building without consent, with the intent to commit 17 

a crime and lit her futon or couch on fire with the intent to 18 

burn the building.  Judge, once you establish a factual basis 19 

for the plea, we do have the victim in this case that would 20 

like to address the Court as well as investigator Biser would 21 

like to make a short statement 22 

 THE COURT:  Mr. Voight, is there any challenge to any 23 

of the State's presentation of facts? 24 

 MR. VOIGHT:  No, sir. 25 
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 THE COURT:  All right.  Well, I find there's a 1 

substantial factual basis for the plea and we'll accept it.  2 

So, who would you like to go with first? 3 

 MR. PATRICK:  I think the victim first, Judge. 4 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Yes, ma'am.  Would you state 5 

your name please? 6 

 MS. FRASIER:  Toshika Frasier. 7 

 THE COURT:  And what would you like to tell me? 8 

 MS. FRASIER:  I just I’m glad that he's actually 9 

taking accountability for his actions fully stated and I'm just 10 

ready to get this behind me.  Whatever happened, happened. 11 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  Who else? 12 

 MR. PATRICK:  Investigator David Biser also wishes to 13 

speak. 14 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Yes, sir. 15 

 MR. BISER:  Your Honor, based on all the evidence, we 16 

feel that it was substantial risk to the life of property based 17 

on what occurred.  So, we provided that we can close this case 18 

and move on. 19 

 THE COURT:  All right. 20 

 MR. PATRICK:  And Judge as to his prior convictions 21 

in 2002, he has convictions for burglary, second degree, grand 22 

larceny, another conviction for burglary second degree, all of 23 

which he pled guilty or received a youthful offender act 24 

sentence.  Then in 2006, Defendant pled guilty to burglary 25 
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second degree, two counts and received five years each on those 1 

concurrently, along with a possession of a weapon during the 2 

commission of a violent crime for which he received five years.  3 

Then finally, in 2012, Defendant pled guilty to assault and 4 

battery first degree.  Assault and battery of a high and 5 

aggravated nature and a burglary second degree for which he 6 

received 15 years concurrent. 7 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Voight? 8 

 MR. VOIGHT:  May it please the Court.  Your Honor, 9 

Mr. Richardson has family in court today, his brother is here 10 

to support him.  Members of his family have been here at each 11 

setting; he has family support.  He's told you he got his GED 12 

in 2018 and that he was working for Mercedes as a forklift 13 

operator.  When he was incarcerated and he has been 14 

incarcerated on these charges for 749 days.  He sought to 15 

address what he knew was a drinking problem.   16 

On the day of this incident, he had been drinking since 17 

the liquor store opened.  He went and completed the DAODAS 18 

program while he was incarcerated, but they also had him 19 

psychologically evaluated as well to get to the root cause of 20 

his depression and his drinking.  And he suffers from PTSD, 21 

which the most likely cause is watching as a 9-year-old, his 22 

mother get sexually assaulted and stabbed by one of her 23 

boyfriends. 24 

 Additionally -- in addition to PTSD and depression, 25 
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the psychologist at the jail thought that he suffered from 1 

schizophrenia and he has been taking Risperdal since that time.  2 

In the days immediately before this incident Mr. Richardson had 3 

something occur that really set him into a spiral.  A friend 4 

called him and said, "Hey, can you come pick me up? I need to 5 

ride around or I want to ride around.  And this friend had 6 

terminal cancer.  But unbeknownst to Mr. Richardson, this 7 

friend had taken a quantity of fentanyl before getting into Mr. 8 

Richardson's car.   9 

And as Mr. Richardson went from, you know, to the store or 10 

driving from this place to that, that person expired in his 11 

car.  And at first, Mr. Richardson thought he was merely 12 

sleeping and then for a horrifying two hours had a dead body in 13 

his car and he didn't know what to do. 14 

 And that happened eight days before this incident.  15 

And I think it caused the spiral of drinking and acting out 16 

that ultimately led to us being here today.  When he's properly 17 

medicated as he is today, he is clear sighted, he is 18 

loquacious, he is quick-witted.  He has written me in the last 19 

year seeking to take responsibility for this specific action 20 

that he knows he was in the wrongful.   21 

And he has -- I mean, as everyone who is accused of a very 22 

serious crime does -- they would always wish for a resolution 23 

other than a very serious crime.  But as we -- as trial 24 

approached, he knew that he had to take responsibility for his 25 
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actions.  And that's something he has always wanted to do. 1 

 And that's a discussion that I have had with the 2 

State for more than a week now and certainly I felt that way.  3 

I felt yesterday that this is what we would be doing.  I would 4 

ask the Court to use its discretion and take into account what 5 

Mr. Richardson was going through and the positive steps he's 6 

taken while incarcerated to put himself on a path that will 7 

permanently stop him from ever having this sort of relapse.  He 8 

is now properly medicated.   9 

He has insight into what is going on with his mental 10 

condition so that he can address it and monitor it.  And he has 11 

gotten -- I mean, he went through DAOTAS to understand the 12 

mechanics of his drinking problems so that he could address 13 

those.  And someday, hopefully, that when he's back in society, 14 

that's no longer a problem for him or any of the rest of us.  15 

Thank you. 16 

 THE COURT:  Mr. Richardson, would you like to say 17 

anything? 18 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 19 

 THE COURT:  Pardon? 20 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, sir. 21 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  Speak up. 22 

 MR. RICHARDSON:  All right.  From the beginning of 23 

this, I know I was wrong with my actions.  I never came in to 24 

say that I was right.  At that point in time, I just was going 25 

12



  

 

13 

through a lot of stuff like my family.  I have family problems, 1 

I had issue when my homeboy died.  I'm not here trying to ask 2 

nobody for no leniency, I'm starting to see I'm a bad person. 3 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Well, you know, the problem 4 

that you got is you -- if you took it in isolation that hey, 5 

this was a result of a bad relationship, you acted out terribly 6 

wrong about it.  You know, that'd be one thing.  You -- you've 7 

got though this record and this is where records come back to 8 

haunt you is, you know, you are -- this isn't your first time 9 

pleading in front of a court, getting convicted of some pretty 10 

serious offenses.   11 

And the consequences of it is that, you know, we got to 12 

take a long, hard serious look and see, well what is the right 13 

thing to do here? And a minimum sentence in this case with a 14 

burglary first is 15 years.  The ups or the downside on the 15 

sentence on that from your standpoint is you could get life 16 

without parole.  And I can tell you, you know, depending on how 17 

these things play out at trial, you never know how they're 18 

going to go. 19 

 But from what I understand, the evidence would pretty 20 

clearly indicate guilt and then you would have this record that 21 

you bring along with you of multiple convictions.  And that 22 

would, I can tell you from my experience in doing this, get you 23 

a lot closer to a life without parole sentence than it would be 24 

to get something more towards the 15-year end of a minimum 25 
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sentence in this case.  So, I certainly understand you would 1 

like to have it towards the minimum side.  I can go as I told 2 

your lawyer towards the 20, but the minimum is not going to be 3 

an option for you simply because this is far from being your 4 

first offense. 5 

 But I do give you credit for coming in and taking 6 

responsibility and not putting the victim through a trial.  7 

Those are things that I'll -- I factor in when I'm giving you 8 

the sentence that I do.  And the sentence in -- on the Court -- 9 

from the Court on both of these would be -- will be 20 years in 10 

the Department of Corrections that will run concurrently and 11 

you will get credit for the time that you served while awaiting 12 

trial, which I think you said 749 days. 13 

 MR. PATRICK:  749 days, Judge. 14 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Well, good luck to you. 15 

 MR. VOIGT:  Thank you. 16 

 THE COURT:  Thank you. 17 

[END OF HEARING] 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
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V. 
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) 

) 

) 
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) 

) 

) 

) 
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CASE NO. 2024-CP-10-01562 

RETURN 

(Counsel Already App;ointed) 

_____ _ _________ ) c;. 

In response to the application for post-conviction relief (PCR) filed by Tarrell L. 

Richardson (Applicant) on March 22, 2024, Respondent makes the following Return 1:

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Applicant is presently confined to the South Carolina Department of Corrections serving a 

twenty-year sentence. During its November 2023 tenn, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted 

Applicant for Burglary J S' Degree (2023-GS-10-05413) and Arson 2nd Degree (2023-GS-l 0-

05414 ). On January 30, 2024, Applicant appeared before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., and 

pied guilty as indicted. Gregory K. Voigt, Esquire, represented Applicant. Assistant Solicitor 

Charles W. Patrick, IJI, of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office represented the State. Judge Young 

sentenced Applicant to twenty years for Burglary 1st Degree and Arson 2nd Degree, with 749 days 

credit for time served. Applicant did not appeal. 

1 Respondent's return was due to be filed within 60 days of service. See Rule 12(a), SCRCP ("[T]he State of South 

Carolina shall answer or otherwise respond to an application for post-conviction relief within 60 days after service of 
the application, if it arises out of a guilty plea, and 90-days if it arises out of a trial."). Now, having completed the 

return and in light of no demonstrable prejudice to Applicant, Respondent respectfully asks this Court to accept this 
return as timely filed. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-70(a) (establishing the Court may fix the time in which the State 

must respond); Guinyard v. State, 260 S.C. 220, 195 S.E.2d 392 ( 1973) (holding the time limit prescribed by the statute 
is not mandatory but discretionary with the circuit court, and the circuit court may extend the time for filing). 
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CURRENT APPLICATION 

On March 22, 2024, Applicant timely filed this PCR application alleging: 

I. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel2

a. "Counsel refused to proved [sic] defendant with any public interest
legal services."
1. "Relievie [sic] of counsel fonn filed".

b. "Counsel showed repuganant [sic] cause of bias grounds to
misrepresent the defendant."
1. "File number, 23-DE-L-0640, Complaint filed with Disciplinary

Counsel".
c. "Counsel withheld key evidence accordence [sic] to rule 5 & 6 law".

1. "Notarized petition writ for rule 5 & 6 evidence".

As relief, Applicant has requested, "Relief in sentence in order of 5 to 10 years". Attached 

to this return are the Charleston County Clerk of Court records of the subject conviction, 

Applicant's records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections, and the plea transcript. 

Respondent reserves the right to amend this Return upon receipt of any additional relevant 

materials. 

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

In a PCR action, Applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. 

Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective 

assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so 

undennined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as 

2 In response to question nine on the PCR application, Applicant answered that he was not infom1ed by counsel of his 

right to appeal and that he could not obtain the paperwork to appeal his guilty plea or sentence imposed. Based on this 

response and Applicant's failure to state this as an enumerated ground for relief, it is unclear whether Applicant is 
seeking belated appellate review pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974). Accordingly, the 

State moves for Applicant, through counsel, to amend his application to provide a more definite statement of his 

allegations pursuant to Rule 12(e), SCRCP, and the Post-Conviction Procedure Act. See Code Ann. 17-27-50 (2014). 
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having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 

442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. 

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies 

the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668. First, Applicant must 

prove that counsel's perfonnances was deficient. l!L; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C . .  1 I 5, 117, 386 

S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's perfonnance by its 

"reasonableness under prevailing professional nonns." Cherry, 300 S.C at 117,386 S.E. 2d at 635 

(quoting Strickland, 366 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of perfonnance is whether the attorney 

provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286 

S.C. At 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate

assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise ofreasonable professional judgment." 

l!L ( citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The Applicant must overcome this presumption to receive 

relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel's deficient perfonnance must 

have prejudiced the Applicant such that "there is reasonable probability that, but for counsel's 

unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C at 

117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Here, the record likely does not refute or disprove Applicant's claims; therefore, 

Respondent requests an evidentiary hearing once Applicant files an amended application. See 

Sharper, 279 S.C. at 265, 305 S.E.2d at 248 (providing an evidentiary hearing shall be held when 

a PCR application "alleges specific instances of ineffective assistance of counsel which are not 

conclusively refuted by the record"). 
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ANY FUTURE AMENDMENTS AND INVOCATION OF DISCOVERY 

Respondent requests Applicant specify any claims he intends to raise in advance of the 

hearing. Respondent reserves the right to request a continuance based upon any amendments 

withheld until the last minute. Respondent further requests all potential exhibits and materials used 

to produce potential expert witness testimony be sent to Respondent before the hearing. Likewise, 

Respondent requests all potential evidence and a witness list be sent to Respondent before the 

hearing. Respondent reserves the right to request a continuance and oppose witness testimony and 

exhibits that result in undue prejudice to the State. 

ALL OTHER ALLEGATIONS 

Any allegation not expressly admitted, qualified, or explained is hereby denied. 

[CONCLUSION AND SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, Respondent requests an evidentiary hearing on Applicant's claims of 

ineffective assistance of counsel. 

May 15, 2025 

By: 

Respectfully Submitted, 

ALAN WILSON 
Attorney General 

DONALD J. ZELENKA 
Deputy Attorney General 

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II

Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON 
Assistant Attorney General 

KYLEE KANEALEY 
Assistant Attorney General 

Kylee Kanealey, 107060 

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT 
Office of the Attorney General 
Post Office Box I 1549 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211 
803-734-4103
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLI NA 

COUNTY OF CHARLESTON 

Tare!! L. Richardson, 1/288877, 

Applicant, 

V. 

State of South Carolina, 

Respondent. 

) 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

) 
) 

) 

) 
) 

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 

IN THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

CASE NO. 2024-CP-10-01562 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY !WAIL 
•, (_ C-M 

,· . 

'· 

r ' 

---"­

:i::-,, 
--r: 

1.0 

1. I am an employee of the Respondent in the above-captioned action.

2. Regular communication by mail exists throughout the State ol'South Carolina and that this
is a proper circumstance of service by mail.

3. I have this day served a copy of the Respondent's Return, in the above-captioned matter,
on the following person, by depositing same in the United States mail, postage prepaid:

DATED this 15 th day of May, 2025. 

Christopher L. Murphy, Esquire 

Murphy Law Offices, LLC 

146 Fairchild Street, Suite 130 

Charleston, SC 29492 

Vickie 1-la!L Legal Assistant 
For Respondent 
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA * COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
                      * 

COUNTY OF CHARLESTON * TRANSCRIPT OF RECORD 

------------------------------x
TARELL RICHARDSON #288877,

Applicant,

*
*
*
*

vs. *
*
 Case No. 2024-CP-10-01562 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

*
*
*

------------------------------x  

August 6, 2025 

B E F O R E:

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Presiding Judge

A P P E A R A N C E S:

Christopher L. Murphy, Esq.
Attorney for the Applicant

Kylee Kanealey, Esq.
Assistant Attorney General for the Respondent

Recorded by: DCRP Court Monitor Caressa Johnson (BIS)

Court Reporter:  Bobbi Fisher, RPR 
SC Official Court Reporter III
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I N D E X
WITNESS/DESCRIPTION

PAGE 

TERELL RICHARDSON

Direct Examination By Mr. Murphy 4

Cross-Examination By Ms. Kanealey 11

GREGORY VOIGT

Direct Examination By Ms. Kanealey 12

Cross-Examination By Mr. Murphy 21

E X H I B I T S

None.  

  

COURT REPORTER/TRANSCRIBER LEGEND

Dash (--) Indicates an interruption in speech

Ellipses (...) Indicates trailing off in speech

(ph) Indicates phonetic word

[sic] Indicates the word is written as said

(Indiscernible)Indicates word(s) is not 
known due to poor audio recording quality  
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P R O C E E D I N G S

(The following proceedings started at 1:11 PM:)

THE COURT:  We're all set, then, 24-CP-10-1562?

MR. MURPHY:  Yes, sir.  

MS. KANEALEY:  May it please the Court.  Kylee Kanealey 

on behalf of the State.  This is Terrell Richardson versus 

State, 2024-CP-10-1562.

Applicant is presently confined in the South Carolina 

Department of Corrections, serving a 20-year sentence.

During its November 2023 term, the Charleston County 

Grand Jury indicted Applicant for burglary, first degree -- 

that's 2023-GS-10-5413 -- and arson, second degree -- 

2023-GS-10-5413.

On January 30th, 2024, Applicant appeared before the 

Honorable Roger M. Young and pled guilty as indicted.

Gregory K. Voigt, Esquire, represented Applicant, and 

Assistant Solicitor Charles Patrick, III, of the Ninth Circuit 

Solicitor's Office represented the State.

Judge Young sentenced Applicant to a sentence of 20 years 

for burglary first and arson second degree, with 749 days' 

credit for time served.

Applicant did not appeal. 

On March 22nd, 2024, Applicant timely filed this PCR 

application.  At this time, I'll turn it over to Mr. Murphy to 

state which allegations they intend on proceeding forward on 
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today.

MR. MURPHY:  He's going to be pleading on an involuntary 

plea, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

And go ahead and call --

MR. MURPHY:  And whenever you're ready... 

THE COURT:  Yes, please. 

MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  We'd call Mr. Richardson to the stand.

THE CLERK:  To the best of your ability, can you please 

raise your right hand.  Place your left hand on the Bible to 

be sworn.

Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you shall give 

the Court is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the 

truth so help you God?

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes.

TERELL RICHARDSON,

after having been duly sworn, was examined and testified 

to as follows:

THE CLERK:  You may take your seat.

Please state your full name, spelling your last name 

loudly and clearly into the microphone.

THE DEFENDANT:  Terell Richardson.  R-i-c-h-a-r-d-s-o-n.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. MURPHY:  

Q And you can have a seat, Mr. Richardson.  

32



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Tarell Richardson v. State (8/6/25)
Bobbi Fisher, RPR -- SC Official Court Reporter III

5

Now, Mr. Richardson, we're here on your Post-Conviction 

Relief Application.  You understand that; correct? 

A Yes, sir.

Q And you're also alleging, as part of this application, 

errors that your attorney committed while representing you; 

right? 

A Yes, sir.

Q And that was Mr. Voigt -- Greg Voigt that represented 

you; right? 

A Yes, sir.

Q And he was court appointed to represent you; is that 

correct? 

A Yes, sir.

Q And you originally got charged with burg first and arson?  

A Yes, sir.

Q And you eventually pled to burg first and arson? 

A Yes, sir.

Q And you received a 20-year sentence; correct? 

A Yes, sir.

Q And I believe you pled -- you were right on the eve of 

trial, either the day of trial or shortly before when you pled 

guilty; is that correct? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q All right.  Now, as part of your application, you're 

saying, "I didn't want to plead guilty" or "I shouldn't have 
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pled guilty"; is that fair? 

A Yes, sir.

Q And so what we've got to do is talk about things or 

errors that your attorney did that caused this involuntary 

guilty plea. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Okay.  And so one of the things that, when we spoke, you 

indicated that you never saw or met with Mr. -- let me say 

this:  How many times did you meet with Mr. Voigt before going 

to trial? 

A None. 

Q Okay.  And so you're saying you never actually met with 

Mr. Voigt?

A I only saw Mr. Voigt in the initial -- the initial visit, 

in which I wrote him up.  I put in a motion with the courts to 

have him dismissed off my -- have him removed off my case.  

That was -- that was June of 2022. 

Q All right.  

A He -- that was the first time I ever seen him. 

Q All right.  And so you say -- did you make a motion to 

have him relieved as counsel? 

A Yes.

Q And that hearing went before the Court?

A The first motion, they didn't.  The first motion, they 

didn't honor it.  The second motion, yes.  They granted me 
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that.  They tell me -- I stressed my point, that I didn't feel 

safe going to trial with him and I didn't like how he was 

representing me because he -- he didn't even have time to go 

over my case or none of that.

So they still made me -- they still made me keep him as a 

representative -- as my counsel, which I neglected -- I really 

tell them that I really didn't want him on my case.

Q All right.  So the Court denied your request for new 

counsel? 

A Yes.

Q And then you also indicate you wrote him up as -- did you 

file a bar complaint against him as well? 

A Yes. 

Q All right.  And was that an effort to try to get him 

relieved as counsel or -- 

A It was -- it was all -- it was that and also just to 

point out his negligence towards me, towards my case.

Q And so back to your case, you're saying you never met 

with him to go over the facts of your case? 

A Nothing.

Q And in terms of the discovery that the State had, did you 

ever see that?

A Not that -- I keep stressing the point I wanted to see 

the video to point out that it wasn't no grounds for them to 

charge me with burglary.  He -- at first, he said he never had 
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the video.  And then, right before trial -- I did a trial, he 

told me, "Oh, I watched the video.  It looks like you."

But I said, "Well, you never let -- I wrote you motions.  

I even wrote you letters to see this.  I have a right to see 

this.  That's part of my Rule 5."

He never respected that or never came to see me at the 

county jail or nothing. 

Q Okay.  And you were being held at the county jail pending 

trial; correct? 

A Yes.

Q And I believe you got -- there are probably about 749 

days; correct?  

A Yes.

Q Now, you're saying to this Court that you never saw any 

of the discovery in your case? 

A Never.

Q You never met with Mr. Voigt? 

A Never.

Q You never saw any of the videos? 

A Never. 

Q Okay.  And you touched on the burglary first and the 

elements.  What you're saying is there was no evidence that 

you actually entered the house; correct? 

A Enter it.  I asked him -- I also asked him to obtain my 

cell phone to show him that I had a reason to be by the house 
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that day.  He -- and neglect to get that, too.

Q And what was your reason to be by the house that day?

A To return the item that I got the day before.  

Q All right.  And so just by kind of facts in this case, 

this was your girlfriend?  

A Yeah, ex-girlfriend.  

Q Ex-girlfriend.  

And what happened was, her house burned down? 

A Yes.

Q And there was some indication -- obviously, the police 

arrested you in connection with that crime. 

A Mm-hmm.

Q And you're saying that you were in the area, but you were 

returning or getting some items from her house. 

A Yeah.  I never -- I never -- nobody -- nobody never 

interviewed me about the case the whole time.  So Mr. Voigt, I 

was trying to -- I wrote him out for a whole year straight. 

Every Sunday, I wrote him a letter, and I explained to him I 

never denied being by the house, but I had a reason to be by 

the house.  I never had malice.  Me and her wasn't having 

problems.  My phone could have showed that, and the camera 

would have showed that I just came and knocked on the door. 

Q All right.  And what you're saying is you never did 

anything to cause any arson to the house. 

A Never.
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Q And you never went into the house with the intent to 

commit a crime?

A I never stepped foot in the house. 

Q Okay.  You also indicate that you ended up pleading 

guilty because you lost faith in your attorney and that he 

wasn't ready for trial?

A Yeah, he wasn't -- he -- the day -- the day of my trial, 

that's when he got my witness list.

Q And what witness list is this that you're talking about?

A Well, of all my -- the guy -- I had a guy who was in the 

car with me that day.  I put him -- I told him month -- a year 

-- I said, "I need you to get the statement of that guy."

Also, the statements of the person with my cell phone to 

show that I didn't have control of my -- that Facebook page at 

that time because she got my old phone and changed the 

passcode. 

Q Okay.  And these witness lists, I've also asked you for 

this witness list; correct? 

A Yes.

Q And I -- I have not received it?

A That came in a letter.

Q You sent in a letter but I didn't receive it yet. 

A Oh.  I did send it in a letter.

Q Okay.  And when did you send in this letter?

A The day after we got off the phone with each other. 
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Q Okay.  So you're talking about he didn't -- he wasn't 

ready for trial.  The elements of burglary could not be 

proven, is what you're saying? 

A Yes.

Q You're saying that you never met with him and that you 

never got your discovery. 

A Mm-hmm.

Q And you pled guilty because he wasn't ready for trial, 

and you felt like you were going to get a much worse sentence? 

A Yes.

Q Is there anything else that you believe your attorney did 

wrong representing you?

A As far as like -- not keeping me informed on the case.  

His due diligence.  His correspondence with me.  I -- like I 

say, this is about the third time.  Like, this is the third 

time I seen him since I had this case.

Q All right, sir.  That's all the questions I have for you.  

Please answer any questions from the State. 

A Okay. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MS. KANEALEY:

Q Just briefly.  You testified that you wanted your lawyer 

to get a statement from a guy?  

A Yeah.

Q What's the name of this guy? 
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A Jamal Mungin (ph). 

Q Okay.  Is he here today?

A He's not here today. 

MS. KANEALEY:  Okay.  No further questions, Your Honor.

MR. MURPHY:  No follow-up. 

THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  You may step down. 

Anything else for your presentation?

MR. MURPHY:  Nothing, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Please call your first witness.

MS. KANEALEY:  Yes, Your Honor.  The State would call 

Gregory Voigt to the stand.

THE CLERK:  Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you 

shall give before this Court shall be the truth, the whole 

truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

GREGORY VOIGT

after having been duly sworn, was examined and testified 

to as follows:

THE CLERK:  Please be seated.  And for the record, please 

state your full name.

THE WITNESS:  My name is Gregory Kenneth Voigt.  V as in 

"Victor" o-i-g-t.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. KANEALEY:  

Q How are you doing today, Mr. Voigt? 
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A All right.

Q And so how long have you been practicing the law?

A I -- well, I passed the bar in Louisiana in 1994.  I 

stayed in Louisiana as a defense attorney and as a prosecutor 

until Katrina in 2005.

I came here, worked for the solicitor's office for ten 

years, then entered into private practice for ten years.  And 

now I'm back being a civil servant.  So there's that.  

Q And so how much of that approximately has been criminal 

law?

A During the 20-plus years I was a prosecutor, 100%.

When I was in private practice for the three times I was 

in private practice, about 80%. 

Q Okay.  And so here, how many times, approximately did you 

meet with Applicant?

A I believe I met with him three times.  I met with him 

initially, I met with him regarding a speedy trial motion, as 

well as the time that he asked to have me relieved.  And that 

would have been -- those two times would have been downstairs 

in this building.

Q And do you feel as if you had adequate time to meet with 

him?

A I did, because, in addition to meeting with him, my -- my 

business card at the time had my cell phone number on it, and 

Mr. Richardson would call me both on my cell phone and on my 
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office phone.

He got into the habit of leaving me long messages on 

Sunday afternoons at my office answering service. 

Q Okay.  And can you give us a brief overview of the 

evidence the State had against him?

A Well, Mr. Richardson had a number of issues in his case.  

Primarily, the fact that he had -- when I was appointed to 

represent him, I believe he had 16 warrants, of which these 

were just two, and they were grouped in very specific 

instances.  Some were more serious, some were less serious, 

but at least three of them were most serious and violent for 

statutory purposes.  There were two burg firsts in separate 

incidents as well as an attempted murder.  I believe all those 

are still open, to the best of my knowledge.

This case was a burglary first and an arson second, so 

nobody was injured, but there was a potentiality of it.

The State had text messages from Mr. Richardson to his 

former girlfriend to the effect that he was going to "burn her 

shit up."  All right?  And that occurred, I believe, within 

two hours of her couch catching on fire and alarms from inside 

the building that alerted -- was the first alert to the fire.

The State also had a Ring video that showed a person.  

Now, this -- the video did not show Mr. Richardson's face 

clearly.  It would not -- you would not be able to identify 

his face from the video.  However, as you can see in court 
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today, Mr. Richardson is a tall, lean individual, and the 

person who was approaching the door -- now, this would have 

been the next-door neighbor's Ring camera, so it would have 

been approaching the door on the other side the apartment were 

ultimately the fire started -- the -- a tall, lean person is 

the person who approached that door.

That door was kicked in, so it was forcefully opened.  So 

there was a breach there.  

There had been -- 

Q Sorry.

A I believe that his ex-girlfriend was also prepared to 

testify that he had made a number of threats, some alluding to 

fire in addition to the text message. 

Q Okay.  And did you discuss all of this with him? 

A Yes.

Q And did you discuss the discovery you had?

A I did.  As a matter of fact, because he had 16 different 

warrants that were a multiple of cases, I couldn't bring him a 

stack of discovery when I first met with him.  So what I 

promised him I would do -- and I did -- was, each week, I 

would copy all of the paper discovery in each of his cases and 

send them to him through the Sheriff's Office through the 

mail.  And that's what I did.

Now, I did not send him the video.  Obviously, there's no 

way to play the media.  But I did discuss it with him.  I've 
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discussed the case on the telephone with him, in addition to 

the times I met with him in person.

We spent a lot of time together in the trial term before 

the plea, because the plea was actually on the second 

scheduled day of trial.

Q Let me just clarify:  So you did discuss the contents of 

the video with him?  

A Oh, absolutely. 

Q Okay.  

A Absolutely.

Q And did Applicant have any defenses had you proceeded to 

trial?

A He, at one point, had mentioned to me two things.  One, 

that there was somebody who would vouch for him and say that 

he didn't do it.  I never knew that person's name.  None of 

that information was ever provided to me.  I make -- I have no 

opinion as to whether or not that was actually true or not.

He also told me, while we were selecting the jury, that, 

when he was out on bond, I believe for the attempted murder 

charge, that he had been placed on an ankle monitor and that 

the ankle monitor was going to show that he wasn't anywhere 

near the location.

So I asked for a continuance of the trial.  I was granted 

a one-day reprieve.  We were able to get the information from 

his bondsman and the GPS tracking company.
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And about 7:00 last night, I learned -- or that night of 

the first day of trial, I learned that, according to their GPS 

tracking, at the time the fire alarm went off, his ankle 

monitor was within 100 yards of that location.

Q And can you give a brief overview of your plea 

negotiations with the State?

A I wanted -- and I will tell you, there was another time 

where I did meet with him, and that was when we had a bond 

revocation hearing early in the proceedings.  And it was -- he 

had been arrested for other things and older bonds the State 

sought to revoke.  

At the time, his -- all of his cases were being handled 

by a team leader who would ultimately then become the chief 

deputy for the circuit, and she is a thorough but deliberate 

solicitor, let's just say.  And I knew, having had 

conversations with Mr. Richardson, that he wanted this over 

yesterday.  He was not -- he was impatient.  He didn't feel 

like he should be incarcerated.

And my plea to her always was, "Please, please give this 

to somebody, one of your trial-hungry assistant solicitors, 

who will want to make this happen," whatever it is, whether 

it's a trial and we show Mr. Richardson's innocence or whether 

it's a plea of some sort.

And I met with her in person.  I called her on the 

telephone.  I emailed her.  I stalked her for about six 

45



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Tarell Richardson v. State (8/6/25)
Bobbi Fisher, RPR -- SC Official Court Reporter III

18

months, and she is someone who requires stalking.

I finally got her to agree, got a new assistant solicitor 

assigned.  Once he came up to speed -- we made a Motion for a 

Speedy Trial, which was granted.  The problem was that this 

assistant solicitor did a very typical assistant solicitor 

move, which was he set the attempted murder case on a docket 

for which he knew there was already an older murder case that 

was going to go.

Now, Mr. Richardson and I knew, because we had discussed 

it, that the victim in this attempt -- he always maintained 

his absolute innocence on the attempted murder case, but he 

also said that the victim was someone who was not going to 

come to court under any circumstances, for whatever reason.  

He had that knowledge, and I believed him.

So we were set on a November trial docket.  It 

ultimately -- you know, some other trial went, and thereby, 

the State complied with the speedy trial Order in that they 

put him on a trial docket, but it really was never going to be 

a trial. 

There may have been more to your question, but --

Q No.  That's -- thank you.  

And did you discuss the potential sentences with him, 

like, had he received a trial versus pleading guilty?

A So let me tell you how we got to it.  The short answer is 

yes.  The long answer is that we were prepared to go to trial.  
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I am someone who tries a lot of cases.  I have tried a lot of 

cases.  I am ready -- when I'm -- when I'm -- when I wear a 

suit and I'm sitting at that table, I'm ready for trial.  

And we picked a jury.  We selected a jury.  We had a 

judge that, for sentencing purposes, I did not believe was 

ideal for Mr. Richardson based on his prior record, which is 

substantial.  And I believed that we -- I wasn't going to get 

this witness that was promised to me.

Mr. Richardson had clearly told me something about his 

GPS monitor that wound up not being true.  Ultimately, it 

wasn't going to be able to be authenticated in time to be 

introduced, but nevertheless, it was an indicia that perhaps I 

needed to find another way of solving this case.

I believe -- you know, I've been doing this long enough 

that I believe that one of the first principles is to first do 

no harm.  And my duty to the client is not to allow them to 

walk themselves into a buzzsaw.  

I believe, based on the quality of the State's evidence 

in the burglary and arson case -- not the rest of the cases, 

but in that case alone -- with his history, he was looking at 

a potential life sentence.  I didn't want that to happen to 

him.

And so I -- while we were at a break, I asked to talk to 

the judge, the attorneys, and I basically tried to get the 

judge to a number.  Most judges will not give you a number and 
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they shouldn't.  They've been told not to.  But I'm old 

school, and I kind of like the old way of doing it.  When 

judges would pick a number, and we could work with it.

So we went back and I tried to negotiate with the judge 

for the number because the State -- for the State's purposes, 

it was a straight-up plea.  They had no dog in the fight.

I got what I thought was a -- not a perfect number, but a 

number, and it was something that was going to mean that 

Mr. Richardson would have some life that was not going to be 

incarcerated at some point.

And I took that to him and discussed it with him, 

discussed what it meant giving up the trial right, giving up 

the right to cross-examine witnesses, the right to, you know, 

call witnesses on your own.  I discussed that with him.

I also discussed that with his family.  His brother had 

come.  His brother was a calm, rational person who I believed 

would be able to discuss important things with him because I 

believe he had Mr. Richardson's trust.  And I talked with him.

He talked with Mr. Richardson.  Then I talked to 

Mr. Richardson again.  And, ultimately, you know, I believe 

that Mr. Richardson understood what he was giving up and the 

advantages that he was getting as well.

MS. KANEALEY:  No further questions, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

Yes, sir. 
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MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  May it please the Court.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. MURPHY:

Q Mr. Voigt, prior to the guilty plea, did Mr. Richardson 

maintain his innocence in this -- for these charges?

A Mr. Richardson's had a number of different charges.  I 

would say as a -- he basically had a blanket expression of 

innocence as to each of the charges.

Q And for -- I asked a bad question.  I'm really just 

asking about the burg first and the arson charge.  

A And that he -- he -- but he treated them -- he had many 

-- he had many problems in his basket, and he treated them all 

equally.

Q And in terms of -- if I heard you and I've spoke with him 

about the evidence, I realized there was text messages or 

Facebook stuff saying he was going to burn up the -- the 

victim's place and there was stuff putting him in the scene 

around the fire -- when the fire started.

But the main thing I'm looking at is the doorbell.  The 

text message that you talked about, none of them indicated 

that he actually entered the house, did they?

A Well, so the witness, his ex-girlfriend, was prepared to 

testify, and this would have been in police reports and in 

statements, that she identified the person who approached her 

door.  And when I say "approached her door," not casually walk 

49



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Tarell Richardson v. State (8/6/25)
Bobbi Fisher, RPR -- SC Official Court Reporter III

22

up as if to knock.

The last thing you see in the video is, like, a raised 

leg as if to kick the door.

The door is broken off of its hinges and then a fire 

starts in the middle of a couch, far away from an electrical 

outlet, so that -- for purposes of arson, the arson part was 

there.  You just have to -- you know, from -- for 

circumstantial evidence purposes, the State has to put the 

person entering at the same time as the fire starting 

together.  For circumstantial evidence purposes, they could 

make that burden.  It's not a guarantee.  There was always a 

way to fight those things.

Q So what we're talking about is objective evidence versus 

-- or direct evidence versus subjective?

A This would have been circumstantial evidence. 

Q Circumstantial.

A Right.  And, as we all know, circumstantial -- you know, 

a conviction can be founded purely on circumstantial evidence, 

and the law doesn't treat them any differently.

Q But in terms of -- and I believe I was reading some of 

the testimonies.  The door was kicked in and a Coke bottle or 

a soda bottle of gasoline was thrown in the house?

A It's un- -- it's -- arson cases are difficult in that,

I think in this case, they never actually -- the arson 

investigator would be able to tell you it was arson because he 
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could exclude all other means, but he could not tell you 

exactly what the accelerant would have been.  And so much in 

arson science has been curtailed.  I mean, we -- you know, we 

don't talk about alligatoring and things like that anymore.  

It's just not -- you can basically tell if it is a purposely 

set fire or not and much more than that is speculation.

Q And did you talk to Mr. Richardson about his reason for 

being in the area of wanting to pick up some items from the 

girlfriend's house?

A Mr. Richardson gave multiple reasons for -- 

Mr. Richardson alternately would tell me he had a reason to be 

there and then tell me he was not there and that he had 

somebody who would vouch for him not being there.

There were inconsistent stories, and I didn't have faith 

in any of them, and I didn't have specifics with which I could 

track anything down.

Q And had you gone to trial, was Mr. Richardson going to 

take the stand in his defense?

A We hadn't officially made that decision.  I had had those 

conversations with him.  He indicated he did not initially 

want to, but we weren't locked into a particular strategy 

there.  

Q I think I -- did I ask if you were court-appointed in 

this case?

A I was appointed in this case.
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Q And what about the other warrants?  Were you appointed in 

those cases as well?

A I was appointed to all those -- all the cases at once.  I 

believe I took over for a public defender because there had 

been a previous conflict -- a personality conflict.

Q And I think you touched -- the other charges, you don't 

know the status of them.

A Oh, I do know the status of them.

Q What is the status?

A They're still pending. 

Q Okay.  They are pending.

A They're still pending.

Q And typically, though, at least it used to be when a 

defendant would get a long sentence like this, those charges 

would get dismissed.  They haven't been dismissed?  

A You'd think -- I was approached by the assistant 

solicitor assigned to the case afterwards, who indicated to me 

that the elected solicitor wanted Mr. Richardson to plead to 

another charge, receive essentially a concurrent sentence, so 

that, if he went to a PCR on any of them, that the concurrent 

sentence would basically lock in the incarceration.

I discussed that with Mr. Richardson.  I'm personally of 

the belief that that's not my job.  I didn't think that was a 

good deal for Mr. Richardson.  And I told that assistant 

solicitor that that -- I didn't believe Mr. Richardson was 
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going to plead guilty to any of the other cases for their 

benefit, because it didn't benefit him at all.

Q So I just want to understand.  Procedurally, let's assume 

that these charges are -- his application is granted.  He 

still has to face this attempted murder charge or these other 

charges -- 

A They would still potentially all be -- to the extent that 

they're pending, he would still face all those charges.

Some of the -- they're not created equally.  Some of 

those charges are not -- as we know, they don't have legs. 

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  No further questions, Your Honor.

MS. KANEALEY:  Nothing from the State, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Anything else?

MR. MURPHY:  Nothing, Your Honor.

MS. KANEALEY:  Nothing from the State, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right then.

THE WITNESS:  May I go?

THE COURT:  You may, sir.

THE WITNESS:  Good to see you.

THE COURT:  Good to see you. 

All right.  Nothing else on this case?

MR. MURPHY:  Nothing, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  I'll take it under advisement and 

let y'all know something as soon as I can.

(At 1:48 PM, the above proceeding concluded.)
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

INDICTMENT

COUNTY OF CHARLESTON

Arson, Second Degree

Against the peace and dignity of the Stale, and contrary to the statute in such case made and

provided.

At a Court of General Sessions, convened November 2023, the Grand Jurors of

Charleston County present upon their oath:

_

CHARLES W. PATRICK, HI

ASSISTAN T SOLICITOR

'That in Charleston County , South Carolina, on or about December 28, 2021, the

Defendant, Tarcll Lamont Richardson, did willfully and maliciously cause an explosion,

set lire to. burn, or cause to be burned or aid, counsel, or procure a burning that resulted

in damage to a dwelling house, church or place of worship, public or private school facility,

manufacturing plant of warehouse, building where business is conducted, institutional

facility or structure designed for human occupancy including local and municipal

buildings, whether the properly of the person or another, in violation of Section 16-11-

1 10(B) of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976) as amended.
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STATE OF' SOUTH CAROLINA

INDICTMENT

COUNTY ()! CHARLESTON

Burglary First Degree

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such case made and

provided.

At a Court of General Sessions, convened November 2023, the Grand Jurors of

Charleston County present upon their oath:

(>--
CHARLES W. PA TRICK, III

ASSISTANT SOLICITOR

That in Charleston County, South Carolina on or about December 28, 202 1 , the Defendant

Tareli Lamont Richardson, did enter the dwelling of Toshika Monique Frazier without

consent and with the intent to commit a crime therein. That, in addition, the defendant has

a prior record with two or more convictions for burglary, housebreaking or a combination

of both; in violation of § 16-1 1-311 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976) as

amended.
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‘Fine:

Fine may be pd. in equal consecutive weekly/monthly pmts. of

§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%)

§14-1-211 (A)(1)(Conv. Surcharge)

§14-1-211 (A)(2)(DUI Surcharge)

§56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment)

§56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test)

§14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding)

§14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge)

§34-1 1-70(b)and(c), and 34-1 1-90(c)and(d) (Admin Fraud Check Court Costs)

§50-21-1 14 (BUI Breath Test Fee)

§56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment)

3% to County (if paid in installments)

Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, Proviso requires $500 be paid to Clerk

during probation and shall be collected before any other fees /

§ 17-3-30(8) Unpaid Application Fee to be paid to the Public Defender Fund /

$100

$100

$12

$25

$25

$150

$41

$50

$40/ea

fab

STATE JARliOXAMONT
vs RICHARDSON

$

$(OQ. oo
$

$

$

1
$

1
$_

$

months/years

And Other Terms Listed Below:
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IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

COUNTY OF CHARLESTON

2023-GS- 10-054 13INDICTMENT/CASE#:
STATE

CDR Code #:SS#: 0079

SENTENCE SHEET

SID# SCO 14 1 9369

In disposition of the above indictment comes now the Defendant who was CONVICTED OF or

TO: Burglary First Degree

of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Code #In violation of §
0079

16-11-0311

§ 17-25-45
fty VIOLENT MOST SERIOUSSERIOUSNON-VIOLENT

The charge is: As indicted, (def.’s initials)

Recommendation by the Stale.

fendantAttorney

County Detention Center,tate Department of CorrectionWHEREFORE, the Defendant is committed to the

Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years

days/months/years/Time Served and or payment
and/or to pay a fine of S.

; plus costs and assessments as applicable*; the balance is suspended with probation forof $.

The

•CDL Yes No CMV Yes No I lazinul Yes No

)
)

)
)
I

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922 and § 16-25-30 it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of § 16-25-20 or § 16-25-65

(Domestic Violence) to ship, transport, possess, or receive a firearm or ammunition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:

DOB:

Address:
City, State,

Zip:

DLF

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of

probation, which are incorporated by reference.

Thp-'s

0 C

Lesser Included

Offense,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Mandatory GPS

(CSC w/minor 1s’ or CSC w/minor 3rd)

Defendant Waives

Presentment to Grand Jury.

AKA:

Race:

A/W#:

Date of Offense:

S.C. Code §:

751X6 _

SC Bar #

for a determinate term of days/month^^^Aime Served

; provided that upon the service of

101X31

SC Bar #

2O22A 102100001 5

j 2/28/202 1
16-11-0311

The plea is: LJ Without Negotiations or Recommendation, Negotiated Sentence,

Charles w. Patrick, ill, SC Bar # / Defendant

Assistant Solicitor

PLEADS

VS.

TARELL LAMON T RICHARDSON

Terre, L Richardson, 1 .amont Terrell Richardson

Black Sex: M Age: 40

Tta/sentence shall run .

Qfl CONCURRENT or CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:

TLeDefendant is to be given credit for time served pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-13-40 to be calculated and applied by SCDOC.

^fxfa^nTonths
n lfafoinclude time spent on monitored house arrest prior to trial and sentencing.

The Defendant Shall be Released from County Detention Center.
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INDICTMENT/CASE#: 2O23-GS-IO-05413

PTUP after

Random Drug/Alcohol TestingSubstance Abuse Counseling Completion of GED

Domestic Violence Intervention ProgramNo Contact with VictimAttend Voc. Rehab. Or Job Corp

Mental Health Counseling

Public Service Employment days/hoursSex Offender Registry pursuant to S.C. Code § 23-3-430

Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-25-135.

Other:

OrderedDeferred Def. Waives HearingRESTITUTION:

plus 20% fee: $.$.Total

Payment Terms: SetbySCDPPPS

Recipient:

$
Beginning$

$

i
$

s Let land
2

Page 2 of 4
SCCA/217 (07/2021)

Clerk of Court/Deputy Clerk:

Court Reporter:

May serve W/E

beginning:

Presiding Judge:

Judge Code:

Sentence Date:

$5/0
TBD

TOTAL

‘Fine:

Fine may be pd. in equal consecutive weekly/monthly pmts. of

§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%)

§14-1-211 (A)(1)(Conv. Surcharge)

§14-1-211 (A)(2)(DUI Surcharge)

§56-5-2995 (DUI Assessment)

§56-1-286 (DUI Breath Test)

§14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding)

§14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge)

§34-1 1-70(b)and(c), and 34-1 1-90(c)and(d) (Admin Fraud Check Court Costs)

§50-21-114 (BUI Breath Test Fee)

§56-5-2942(J) (Vehicle Assessment)

3% to County (if paid in installments)

Appointed PD or appointed other counsel, Proviso requires $500 be paid to Cle

during probation and shall be collected before any other fees ./

§ 17-3-30(B) Unpaid Application Fee to be paid to the Public Defender Fupo

STATE TARELI. LAMONT
yg RICHARDSON

$100

$100

$12

$25

$25

$150

$41

$50

>4<l7&

TBD >

months/years

And Other Terms Listed Below:

$

$[pg Qo
$

$

$ r,
$3TS\ OO
$

$

$

$

tp
/y
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